FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/1/2018 11:46 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96420-3

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 34606-4-III

Spokane Superior Court No. 15-2-00545-1

In re:

ALLAN AND GINA MARGITAN,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

VS.

SPOKANE REGIONAL HEALTH DISTRICT, et al,

Defendants/Respondents.

AMENDED PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

JULIE C. WATTS/WSBA #43729 Attorney for Petitioners 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners are Allan and Gina Margitan.

II. DECISION BELOW

Petitioners seek review of the *Opinion* entered July 24, 2018 (attached as *Appendix 1*), and the *Order Denying Motion to Publish and Amending Opinion* entered September 13, 2018 (attached as *Appendix 2*).

III. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Opinion is in conflict with the decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) governing an unconstitutional takings analysis.
- B. Whether the Opinion is in conflict with the decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) governing tort liability and the public duty doctrine.
- C. Whether the Opinion is in conflict with the decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) governing the analysis of a claim for interference with a business expectancy.
- D. Whether Division III erred under RAP 12.3 when it denied the Margitans' motion to publish the Opinion, which fundamentally alters Washington law.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 19, 2002, *Short Plat 1227-00* was approved by Spokane County. (CP 13.) It contained three parcels, Parcels 1, 2, and 3. *Id.* A forty-foot easement for ingress, egress, and utilities for the three parcels was designated on the map. *Id.* Spokane Regional Health District ("SRHD") required the

parcels to be serviced with public water through the utility easement. (CP 13,

1201-1202.)

The Hannas purchased Parcel 2, and, in 2002, as part of construction on

their home, the Hannas applied for a permit to install an on-site septic system.

which SRHD approved in 2003. (CP 27-28, 65.) During construction, the

Hannas knowingly instructed their contractor to install the septic system in the

forty-foot easement serving Parcel 3. (CP 65, 1090.)

On February 1, 2010, the Margitans purchased Parcel 3. (CP 990.) An old

house existed on Parcel 3 which the Margitans intended to remodel into a high-

end rental property. (CP 1043.)

In October of 2012, the Hannas filed suit against the Margitans and sought

to reduce the easement from forty feet to twenty feet. (CP 1175.) During

discovery, the Hannas produced a diagram titled "As Built," which indicated

where the septic system was constructed. (CP 25.) That diagram incorrectly

designated the forty-foot easement as being twenty feet and confirmed the

septic system's location within the easement. (CP 25, 65.)

Upon learning that the septic drainfield was located within his utilities

easement, Mr. Margitan had concerns about water safety and contacted SRHD

and Spokane Building and Planning. (CP 437-440, 1178-1181.)

WAC 246-272A requires an on-site septic system to be a minimum of five

(5) feet from any easement. (CP 67.)

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 2 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

In May of 2013, Mr. Margitan obtained a copy of the "As Built" septic

system diagram; he dropped it off with a package of documents at SRHD for

the supervisor of the septic system department, Steve Holderby on July 8, 2013.

(CP 436-37.) Mr. Holderby called Mr. Margitan the same day to discuss the

documents. (CP 437.) Mr. Margitan inquired as to whether his complaint

would be kept confidential, and Mr. Holderby assured him it would. (CP 437.)

Mr. Margitan asked Mr. Holderby if he was the right person to talk to,

explaining that he needed to get the easement encroachment issue cleared up

quickly so he could get Spokane County Building and Planning to sign off on

his permit. (CP 437.) Mr. Holderby confirmed that he was the department

head and would get it done the fastest; he also admitted that since it was his

department that had permitted the illegal septic system in the first place, it was

his department that was responsible for getting it moved. (CP 437.) Mr.

Holderby said he understood why Spokane County Building and Planning had

concerns regarding the septic tank drainfield in the easement and he indicated

he knew the building inspector and could make a call if needed. (CP 437.)

Mr. Margitan repeatedly asked when the septic drainfield would be moved,

and Mr. Holderby indicated that he would need to investigate and confirm the

width of the easement and allow the Hannas to comment. (CP 438.) Mr.

Holderby indicated that if the septic system really was within the easement, he

would see test holes for the Hannas' new system within a month. (CP 438.)

He confirmed that the law allowed him to suspend the operation of a

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 3 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 noncompliant septic system. (CP 438.) Mr. Holderby provided Mr. Margitan

with his direct telephone number and assured him again that if the septic

drainfield was really in the easement, he would have it removed within three to

four weeks. (CP 438.)

Several days later on July 15, 2013, Mr. Margitan again spoke to Mr.

Holderby who confirmed that the septic drainfield was in fact within the

easement and indicated he had turned the matter over to the attorney general.

(CP 438-439.) Mr. Holderby again reassured Mr. Margitan the drainfield

would be removed within a few weeks. (CP 439.)

Mr. Holderby contacted Mr. Margitan on July 22, 2013, and asked whether

the court had reduced the easement to 20 feet. (CP 439.) Mr. Margitan

indicated it had not, and Mr. Holderby again reassured him that he would have

the septic drainfield removed within a week or so. (CP 439.)

On July 25, 2013, Mr. Holderby called Mr. Margitan and indicated that he

had not heard from the Hannas yet but assured him that he would get the septic

system drainfield out of the easement. (CP 439.)

On August 7, 2013, Mr. Margitan faxed a copy of the judge's order to Mr.

Holderby, confirming that the easement was forty feet. (CP 439.)

On August 8, 2013, Mr. Holderby called Mr. Margitan and confirmed the

septic system would be removed shortly. (CP 439.) He apologized for not

having it moved yet, saying that the legal system works slowly. (CP 439.) Mr.

Margitan indicated he needed to close out his construction loans and get a

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 4 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210

Spokane, WA 99201

mortgage, which he could not do until he obtained a Certificate of Occupancy.

(CP 439.) Mr. Holderby then suggested that Mr. Margitan agree to reduce the

easement to twenty feet. (CP 440.) Mr. Margitan then told Mr. Holderby that

the Hannas had recently amended their complaint and were requesting the court

to remove the home on Parcel 3 in apparent retaliation for his complaint to

SRHD. (CP 440.) Mr. Holderby assured Mr. Margitan that he had and would

keep the information confidential and would not release it unless ordered. (CP

440, 482-483.)

On November 29, 2013, in light of the lack of progress, Mr. Margitan

requested SRHD shut down the illegal septic system or post a bond. (CP 440.)

He also requested copies of documents in SRHD's possession regarding the

septic system through a public disclosure request. (CP 440.)

On December 9, 2013, counsel for SRHD contacted Mr. Margitan and

instructed him to channel all communication through her. (CP 441, 485.)

On December 10, 2013, Mr. Margitan requested an administrative hearing

to address his request regarding the septic system and to exhaust his

administrative remedies. (CP 441-442, 487.)

On December 14, 2013, Mr. Margitan received the documents he

requested. (CP 441.) Mr. Margitan then discovered that on October 9, 2013,

the SRHD and the Hannas had entered into a private agreement not to move

the drainfield until after the Hannas' lawsuit against the Margitans was

resolved. (CP 385-386, 441, 499-500.) SRHD never spoke with the Margitans

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 5 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210

or got permission to leave the septic system in their utilities easement. (CP

265, 785.) Mr. Margitan received a copy of an email confirming the agreement

had been negotiated and approved by Mr. Holderby himself as of September

23, 2013. (CP 442, 502.)

Mr. Margitan also received confirmation that not only did the SRHD fail

to keep his complaints confidential as promised, but SRHD's attorney emailed

a copy of Mr. Margitan's second complaint directly to the Hannas' attorney

with whom she shared a great deal of information. (CP 442.)

On January 27, 2014, SRHD responded to Mr. Margitan's request for a

hearing with a letter decision, written by the head of the Spokane Regional

Health District, Dr. Joel McCullough. (CP 61-62, 442.) The letter decision

denied the Margitans' request to move the drainfield at that time, but it

appeared to require the Hannas to locate the waterline in reference to their

drainfield; however, discovery confirmed the letter was never sent to the

Hannas, and Dr. McCullough later confirmed that the letter decision was

entirely enforceable. (CP 61-62, 443, 522-523, 530-540.)

The Margitans appealed the letter decision to the Spokane County Health

District Board of Health. (CP 64-68.) The board affirmed the letter decision

as written. (CP 68.)

The Margitans appealed the order to Spokane County Superior Court. (CP)

443.) The Hannas submitted a brief to the Spokane Superior Court on July 15,

2014, in which they admitted that their septic system was within ten feet of the

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 6 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210

Spokane, WA 99201

Margitans' water line. (CP 443.) Mr. Margitan emailed a letter to SRHD's

attorney informing her of the concession; she did not respond. (CP 443, 548.)

She did, however, immediately email the Hanna's counsel and informed him

that if that information were true, the SRHD would be required to do

something. (CP 443, 550-559.) The SRHD's attorney then coordinated

information with the Hannas' attorney and amended the concession in the brief.

(CP 550-568.)

SRHD did not, at any point, engage in a site visit to investigate the Hannas'

encroachment nor did it determine whether the reserve area was available to

move the septic system. (CP 248, 261, 784.) The Hannas had a reserve area

designated on the "As Built" diagram where the septic system could be moved

if necessary. (CP 191.)

SRHD never researched easements that impacted the Hanna property nor

did it make any effort to determine whether the Margitans' water supply was

impacted by the septic drainfield. (CP 252, 323.) SRHD admitted that it was

responsible to enforce compliance with the Washington Administrative Code

governing septic systems and that the agreement was merely a way of easily

resolving the complaint. (CP 176, 265, 798.)

On February 13, 2015, having exhausted their administrative remedies, the

Margitans filed a complaint against SRHD in Spokane County Court, alleging

negligent and intentional refusal to enforce WAC 242-272-0210. (CP 1-28.)

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 7 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

On July 11, 2016, the Margitans filed an amended complaint and added

claims, including intentional interference with a business expectancy and a

claim for an unconstitutional taking. (CP 1501-1515.)

On March 17, 2016, the trial court dismissed the Margitans' claims of

negligence and intentional failure to enforce against SRHD and denied their

motions for reconsideration. (CP 599-609; 610-612.)

On August 1, 2016, the trial court dismissed the Margitans' remaining

claims and denied their motions for reconsideration. (CP 1463-1472.)

The Margitans filed their *Notice of Appeal* on August 2, 2016.

The Court of Appeals filed the *Opinion* on July 24, 2018, and the *Order*

Denying Motion to Publish and Amending Opinion entered on September 13.

2018. The Margitans seek discretionary review.

V. ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Each ruling before this Court is the result of

a summary judgment order; therefore, the standard of review is de novo for

each. Torgerson v. One Lincoln Tower, LLC, 166 Wn.2d 510, 517, 210 P.3d

318 (2009). This Court is to consider all facts submitted and the reasonable

inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

Atherton, 115 Wn.2d at 516. "The moving party is held to a strict standard."

because "[a]ny doubts as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact is

resolved against the moving party." Atherton, 115 Wn.2d at 516. Summary

judgment is subject to a burden-shifting scheme. Young v. Key Pharms., Inc.,

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 8 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). The initial burden to show the nonexistence of genuine issues of material fact is on the moving party. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225. If the moving party satisfies its initial burden, the inquiry shifts to the nonmoving party to "present evidence that demonstrates that material facts are in dispute." *Atherton*, 115 Wn.2d at 516. "Circumstantial, indirect, and inferential evidence will suffice to discharge the plaintiff's burden" under summary judgment. *Rice v. Offshore Sys., Inc.* 167 Wn.App. 77, 89, 272 P.3d 865 (2012). A plaintiff "must meet his burden of production to create an issue of fact but is not required to resolve that issue on summary judgment." *Rice*, 167 Wn.App. at 89.

A. The Opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court that govern unconstitutional takings pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Section 16 of Article 1 of the state constitution provides that "no private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just compensation having been first made or paid into court for the owner." "This provision is so plain and mandatory that it seems impossible to construe it." *State v. Superior Court of King County*, 26 Wn. 278, 286, 66 P.3d 385 (1901). In 1901, this Court observed:

There can be but one question, if any, and that is, what is meant by the word "property?" It is used in the constitution in a comprehensive and unlimited sense, and so it must be construed. It is not any particular kind of property that is mentioned, but the wording is, "no private property." It need not be any physical or tangible property which is subjected to a tangible invasion. The right to the use and possession of a lot abutting onto a public street is property. The right to light and air and access is equally property. These

are rights that are a part of the consideration when the property is purchased."

Court of King County, 26 Wn. at 286. If property, then, consists not merely in tangible things, but in certain rights "in and appurtenant to" those things, "it follows that when a person is deprived of any of those rights, he is to that extent deprived of his property. and hence that his property may be taken, in the constitutional sense, though his title and possession remain undisturbed..."

Court of King County, 26 Wn. at 287.

"The constitution contains no requirement that the damage be permanent." and "[a]lthough there are some judicial pronouncements to the contrary, this court has generally held compensable damages for a temporary taking under the constitutional provision." *Miotke v. Citv of Spokane*, 101 Wn.2d 307, 347, 678 P.2d 803 (1984). "[E]ven if the Government physically invades only an easement in property, it must nonetheless pay compensation." *Kaiser Aetna v. United States*, 444 U.S. 164, 176 (1979).

In this instance, the government actor, SRHD, expressly facilitated the continued interference with the Margitans' non-possessory property interest.

Because the Opinion does not explain its reasoning, it is difficult to provide a useful analysis of how Washington law was applied here.

(1) SRHD knew the septic drainfield encroached on the Margitans' easement when it entered into a private agreement with the Hannas.

The Opinion is internally inconsistent with respect to this fact on appeal.

The Opinion states in its recitation of the facts that the Margitans filed a

complaint with SRHD in July of 2013 alleging that the Hannas' drainfield was

inside the utilities easement. (Opinion, pg. 3.) Then, in its analysis of the

Margitans' claim for an unconstitutional taking, the Opinion indicates that

"[w]hen SRHD entered into this agreement, it did not know that the Hannas'

drain field encroached into the Margitans' easement." (Order Denying Motion

to Publish and Amending Opinion, pg. 2.) These statements are in conflict and

the latter statement does not comport with the record on appeal. It is undisputed

that Mr. Margitan's complaint about the drainfield's encroachment on the

utilities easement is the event that originally brought this matter to the attention

of SRHD in the first place. It is undisputed that the Hannas' septic drainfield

actually encroached on the utilities easement. It is similarly undisputed that

the SRHD entered into the agreement with the Hannas subsequent to receiving

Mr. Margitan's complaint. Therefore, this observation by the Opinion is both

puzzling and inaccurate.

(2) SRHD's decision to enter into a private agreement with the Hannas does not advance the legitimate governmental interest of avoiding

lawsuits.

Here, again, it is puzzling that the Opinion fails to acknowledge that while

it may be wise not to breach agreements if one wishes to avoid a lawsuit, it is

ill-advised in precisely the same way to enter into inappropriate agreements in

the first place. This is particularly so when the agreement is entered into

contrary to the stated purpose of the government agency and its governing

directives with the apparent intention of benefitting one private party by

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 11 of 20

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210

Spokane, WA 99201

interfering with the non-possessory property rights of another (the party who originally approached the SRHD seeking help in response to a concern about health and safety). The Opinion's analysis appears to adopt the reasoning of someone who seeks congratulations for fixing something that he himself broke.

The Opinion notes that the agreement between the Hannas and the SRHD may not qualify as a regulatory taking, but it then declines to address that issue, which is precisely the question brought before this Court.

(3) The economic impact on the Margitans is a question of fact for the jury.

The Opinion concludes there was no excessive economic impact on the Martigans, but the question of whether there was economic impact and whether it was excessive are disputed questions of fact, which are appropriately determined by a jury and not by the appellate court on appeal.

(4) Actual interference with the Margitans' water is not required.

The Opinion provides no reasoning or citation to authority to support its conclusion that actual interference would be required in order to show interference with a nonpossessory property interest in an easement.

If a factual issue as to whether probable cause exists, the question must be submitted to the jury. <u>Bender v. City of Seattle</u>, 99 Wn.2d 582, 594, 664 P.2d 492 (1982); <u>Hertog v. City of Seattle</u>, 138 Wn.2d 265, 275, 979 P.2d 400 (1999)(the question of proximate cause is generally a question for fact for the jury). The determination of damages "is primarily and peculiarly within the province of the jury, under proper instructions," therefore, "the courts should be and are reluctant to interfere with the conclusion of a jury, when fairly made." <u>Baxter v. Greyhound Corporation</u>, 65 Wn.2d 421, 438, 397 P.2d 857 (1964). Credibility determinations, the weighing of the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge. <u>Herron v. King Broadcasting Co.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 762, 768, 776 P.2d 98 (1989).

(5) It was not reasonable for the SRHD to facilitate the Hannas' ongoing encroachment on the Margitans' known easement for the purpose of avoiding the potential encroachment on some unknown third party's hypothetical easement.

First, the Opinion does not explain why the reasonableness of SRHD's decision would be a question of law for the court and not a question of fact for a jury. (The reasonable use of land is generally a question for the jury. *Thompson v. Smith*, 59 Wn.2d 397, 408, 367 P.2d 798 (1962).

Further, it is unclear why it concludes that SRHD would be reasonable to enter into a private agreement for the purpose of avoiding potential encroachment on a hypothetical, unknown third person's easement interest when SRHD had specific knowledge that entering into the agreement would facilitate the actual, ongoing encroachment of a known party's easement interest – the party whose complaint was the basis of the entire inquiry in the first place. The Opinion fails to connect its observations to any particular legal analysis as set forth in the decisions of this Court.

B. The Opinion is in conflict with decisions of this Court governing tort liability and the public duty doctrine. pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

With respect to the intentional tort pleaded by the Margitans, the public duty doctrine does not apply where intentionality can be demonstrated, as here; however, in the Margitans argued the public duty doctrine alternatively.

"Municipal corporations are liable for damages arising out of their tortious conduct or the tortious conduct of their employees to the same extent as if they were a private person or corporation." *Munich v. Skagit Emergency*

Communications Center, 175 Wn.2d 871, 878, 288 P.3d 328 (2012). When the

defendant in a negligence action is a governmental entity, the public duty

doctrine provides that a plaintiff must show the duty breached was owed to him

or her in particular and was not the breach of an obligation owed to the public

in general; i.e., a duty owed to all is a duty owed to none." Munich, 175 Wn.2d

at 878. In this case, the SRHD owed a duty to protect public health.

There are four exceptions to the public duty doctrine: (1) legislative intent,

(2) failure to enforce, (3) the rescue doctrine, and (4) a special relationship.

Munich, 175 Wn.2d at 879. The Margitans claim all but the rescue doctrine.

Legislative Intent: The Opinion states that because there is nothing in the

enabling statute or regulations at issue in this case that explicitly safeguards

people from the possibility of contaminated water, the Margitans do not qualify

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