FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/5/2018 4:36 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96420-3

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals: No. 34606-4-III

ALLAN and GINA MARGITAN, Petitioners,

VS.

SPOKANE REGIONAL HEALTH DISTRICT and SPOKANE REGIONAL HEALTH DISTRICT BOARD OF HEALTH, Respondents.

ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY RESPONDENTS SPOKANE REGIONAL HEALTH DISTRICT AND SPOKANE REGIONAL HEALTH DISTRICT BOARD OF HEALTH

> Michelle K. Fossum, WSBA #20249 Kristina R. Montanez, WSBA #48549 Sayre Sayre & Fossum, P.S. 201 W. North River Dr., Suite 460 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel: (509) 325-7330 Fax: (509) 325-7334

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD FOR GRANTING DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.

The conditions under which the Supreme Court will grant a petition for discretionary review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Margitans are relying on subparagraph (1) which requires that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

B. THE OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FINDING NO UNCONSTITUTIONAL TAKING DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT.

The decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court's dismissal of Margitans' claim of an unconstitutional taking does not conflict with a decision of this Court. None of the three Supreme Court cases cited by Margitans support their contention that a conflict exists.

Margitans first rely on *State v. Superior Court of King Cty.*, 26 Wash. 278, 287, 66 P. 385 (1901), but fail to articulate how the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict. In fact, the decision does not conflict, but rather follows the well-established and more recent law established in *Presbytery of Seattle v. King Cty.*, 114 Wn.2d 320, 335, 787 P.2d 907 (1990) and *Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 119 Wn.2d 1, 17, 829 P.2d 765 (1992), which hold that a governmental regulation is only a taking if it is found to be excessive.

Superior Court of King Cty. is also factually distinguishable. In that case, a corporation planned to build an elevated railroad that would cut off access to another's property and interfere with the landowner's air and light. Presbytery of Seattle v. King Cty., 114 Wn.2d 320, 335, 787 P.2d 907 (1990). The court stated that a when a person is deprived of the right to use and possess his or her own property "he is to that extent deprived of his property, and hence that his property may be taken." 26 Wash. 278, 287, 66 P. 385 (1901). Here, Margitans did not have the right to exclusive use of the easement, the existence of the drain field in the easement did not deprive Margitans of the ability to use the easement, and the water line met the minimum horizontal separation from the drain field. Therefore, the

Opinion does not conflict with this Court's decision in Superior Court of King Cty.

Next, Margitans contend that the Opinion conflicts with *Miotke v. City of Spokane*, 101 Wn.2d 307, 347, 678 P.2d 803 (1984), abrogated on other grounds by *Blue Sky Advocates v. State*, 107 Wn.2d 112, 727 P.2d 644 (1986). Margitans argue that *Miotke* held that an unconstitutional taking need not be permanent. Margitans fail to advise the Court that they are relying on language from the dissenting opinion in *Miotke*, and that the majority opinion succinctly stated that "[a] constitutional taking is a permanent (or recurring) invasion of a property right." *Miotke v. City of Spokane*, 101 Wn.2d at 334. The decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter is wholly consistent with the majority opinion in *Miotke*.

Margitans also cite to a decision of the United States Supreme Court titled *Kaiser Aetna v. U.S.*, 444 U.S. 164, 180, 100 S. Ct. 383, 393, 62 L. Ed. 2d 332 (1979), for the proposition that governments must pay just compensation for invading an easement. However, *Kaiser* is distinguishable from this case. In *Kaiser*, the government effectively transformed a privately-owned pond into a public aquatic park. The government also required the property owner to allow public access to the pond/aquatic park without charging a fee, where the landowner had

previously charged customers for access. *Id.* The easement was created by the government for the public, invading the property rights of the landowner. *Id.* Here, SRHD did not take the easement for the benefit of the public, but merely maintained the status quo pending judicial determination of other easements that may have existed on Hannas' property before requiring the on-site system to be brought into compliance.

It appears that the Court of Appeals made a scrivener's error when it amended its decision. SRHD agrees that the record is clear that SRHD was aware that the drain field was within the easement when entering into the Agreement with Hannas, but SRHD was not aware of Margtians' allegation that the water line was too close to the drain field. It is clear that the Court of Appeals was aware of the correct facts, as the Opinion states that "[a]t the time when SRHD entered into the agreement with the Hannas, Margitans had not alerted SRHD that their water line might be within 10 feet of the drain field." Further, the Opinion states that "SRHD entered into an agreement with the Hannas to allow them to delay relating their drain field until the easement rights of third persons could be determined." This statement immediately precedes the erroneous statement and it appears that

¹ Margitan v. Spokane Regional Health District,

⁴ Wn. App. 2d 1058 (2018) (Unpublished)

the appellate court meant to say that SRHD was not aware of potential issues with Margitans' water line. The error is harmless however, because it does not lead to a different result. SRHD's Agreement with Hannas would still reasonably allow for Hannas to bring the drain field into compliance after completion of the litigation between Hannas and Margitans.

Margitans' remaining arguments relate to the reasonableness of the Agreement between SRHD and Hannas, the alleged economic impact on Margitans, and whether actual interference is required. These arguments appear to address the merits, and not whether discretionary review should be granted. Nonetheless, SRHD entered into the Agreement with the Hannas primarily for two reasons: (1) there was ongoing litigation involving allegations of additional easements on Hannas' property, which would directly impact the possible location of a replacement system; and (2) Judge Linda Tomkins had issued an order requiring maintenance of the status quo. The Order on Reconsideration and Injunction in Hannas quiet title action stated that "[q]uestions of material fact exist as to the existence and nature of any related significant property interest of unjoined parties" including "any private and public grants of easements by the parties," and that "the status quo shall be preserved regarding all other party and third-party access pending further court order." CP 85-86. The Agreement properly allowed

for the completion of the Hanna/Margitan litigation before commencing an application process to relocate the drain field or otherwise bring it into compliance, thus serving a legitimate government interest. CP 74, 89-91.

There was no economic impact on Margitans as a result of the drain field being in the easement, and there was no evidence presented that there was an insufficient horizontal separation between the drain field and the water line. The Opinion cites three factors to consider when determining if a regulation is excessive, and thus constitutes a taking.² The second factor is extent of the regulation's interference with investment-backed expectations. *Id.* The Opinion states that SRHD's decision not to breach the agreement did not interfere with Margitans' water line. The Opinion does not distinguish between actual and any other type of interference, but instead finds that SRHD did not interfere at all.

SRHD respectfully requests that the Court decline to accept review of the claim for an unconstitutional taking.

² Order Denying Motion to Publish and Amend Opinion, No. 34606-4-III, September 13, 2018, p. 2.

C. THE OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FINDING NO EXCEPTION TO THE PUBLIC DUTY DOCTRINE APPLICABLE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT.

The Court of Appeals properly applied Supreme Court precedent when it determined that SRHD did not owe a duty to Margitans because none of the exceptions to the public duty doctrine were applicable. Where the defendant is a governmental entity, the public duty doctrine provides that a governmental entity is not liable for negligence unless the entity owes a duty to the plaintiff as an individual rather than to the public in general. *West Coast, Inc. v. Snohomish County*, 112 Wn.App. 200, 207, 48 P.3d 997 (2002).

1. The Legislative Intent Exception Did Not Apply Because RCW 43.20.050 and WAC 246-272A-0210 Establish that SRHD's Duty is to the Public in General.

In order for the legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine to apply, there must exist a clear intent by the legislature to identify and protect a particular class of persons rather than the general public. *Lakeview Boulevard Condominium Ass'n v. Apartment Sales Corp.*, 102 Wn.App. 599, 607-08, 9 P.3d 879 (2000). The intent to identify and protect a particular class of persons must be clearly expressed within the legislation, it may not be implied. *Ravenscroft v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 911, 930,

969 P.2d 75 (1998). The enabling statute, RCW 43.20.050, and WAC 246-272A-0001 refer to the "public health," and not a particular class of persons. The Opinion is consistent with this Court's decisions regarding the applicability of the legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine.

2. The Duty to Enforce Exception Did Not Apply Because SRHD Took Enforcement Action Related to the Drain Field Within the Easement and no Violation Related to the Water Line Was Established.

The Opinion states that, absent "any statute, regulation, or decisional authority that required SRHD to immediately take enforcement action absent a public health risk," SRHD's Agreement with Hannas does not constitute a failure to enforce WAC 246-272A-0001. Margitans fail to point to any authority to show that the Opinion conflicts with Supreme Court precedent. Further, absent proof of a violation of the minimum horizontal separation between the water line and the drain field, there is nothing for SRHD to enforce related to the water line.

3. The Special Relationship Exception Did Not Apply Because there were Insufficient Communications Between Margitans and SHRD.

"The special relationship exception is a 'focusing tool' used to determine whether a local government is under a duty to the nebulous public or whether that duty has focused on the claimant." *Babcock v. Mason County*

Fire Dist. No. 6, 144 Wn.2d 774, 786, 30 P.3d 1261 (2001). The special relationship exception requires (1) privity; (2) express assurances in response to a specific inquiry; and (3) justifiable reliance. *Id.*

With respect to privity, ordinarily a permit applicant is responsible for ensuring his or her own compliance with codes, regulations and ordinances. *Taylor v. Stevens County,* 111 Wn.2d 159, 168, 759 P.2d 447 (1988). Recognized policy reasons exist for refusing to transfer liability to a local government. For example, the regulatory codes are designed to protect the general public, and not individuals such as Margitans from economic loss caused by public officials. Budgetary and personnel constraints make it unreasonable to place the burden of ensuring compliance upon the local government. Further, a developer has a legal obligation to comply with the statutes regardless of approval of plans. Finally, it is imprudent to shift the risk of erroneous permit issuance and inspections to local governments. *Mull v. City of Bellevue*, 64 Wn.App. 245, 255, 823 P.2d 1152 (1992). Each of these policy considerations weighed against the shifting of liability to SRHD.

To establish the second element requiring express assurances, there must be "a direct inquiry . . . by an individual and incorrect information is clearly set forth by the government." *Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap County,* 188 Wn.App. 1, 352 P.3d 807 (2015). To be express, an assurance must be

unequivocal and promise that a government official will act in a specific way.

Id.

In this case, SRHD did not make an unequivocal, specific assurance that it would act in a certain way in response to a specific inquiry from Margitans. In fact, as of August 30, 2013, SRHD was still gathering information regarding the complaint. The letter to Hannas on August 30, 2013 requests information confirming the location of the system and that a five-foot separation exists. CP 491. Margitans do not contend he had any communication with SRHD after August 30, 2013. Estimates of a possible time frame are, at most, implied assurances, which are not sufficient to give rise to a governmental duty. *Cummins v. Lewis County*, 156 Wn.2d 844, 856, 133 P.3d 458 (2006).

Munich v. Skagit Emergency Communications Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 871, 288 P.3d 328 (2012) is distinguishable. In Munich, the Court held that the Skagit County 911 dispatcher's failure to properly code an emergency call as priority one, resulting in the ultimate murder of the caller, satisfied the special relationship exception. The court pointed out the important differences between building code cases and 911 cases. "In 911 cases, the plaintiff relies not only on the information contained in the assurance, but also on the fulfillment of the action promised in the assurance." Munich v.

Skagit Emergency Communications Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 871, 882, 288 P.3d 328 (2012). The present case is more like a building code case, where the courts have continued to require proof of incorrect information at the time the alleged assurance was made. Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap County, 188 Wn.App. 1, 352 P.3d 807 (2015).

Nor did Margitans justifiably rely on the alleged assurances by SRHD. First, the Certificate of Occupancy had not yet been denied. CP 737, 749. Second, when the system was not removed within the estimated time frame, and Margitans were aware of the terms of the Agreement between Hannas and SRHD, there could be no justifiable reliance.

D. THE OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FINDING NO INTERFERENCE WITH A BUSINESS EXPECTANCY DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT.

Margitans allege that the three factual observations made in the Opinion are inaccurate concerning the appellate court's analysis of whether SRHD entered into the Agreement with Hannas as an improper means of bringing Hannas' drain field into compliance under WAC 246-272A-0210. First, SRHD was not aware of potential issues with the water line when it entered into an Agreement with Hannas.

Second, the fact that the Agreement requires Hannas to immediately

take corrective action if it appeared to SRHD that the drain field posed a public health risk shows that SRHD's means of enforcing health regulations was proper.

Third, Margitans failed to provide evidence that SRHD was motivated by improper means. Margitans argue that "ill will, spite, defamation, fraud, force, or coercion, on the part of the interferor [sic], are not essential ingredients" to establish improper means. This argument is immaterial as the Opinion states that "Margitans have presented no evidence that SRHD was motivated by considerations outside of its obligations or failed to act fairly and reasonably".

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, SRHD requests that the Petition for Discretionary Review be rejected.